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Introduction

IN assembling the information for this pamphlet T relied heavily
on the material prepared carlier by others, These works included
particularly the previans library pamphlet in this serics, Librury
Tnterests by Robert M. Lester,! my predecessor as secretary of the
Corporation; the list of grants for library buildings compiled by
Durand R. Miller* in 1943; and an informal memorandum pre-
pared in 1956 by Frederick . Jackson. Tho several lists of grants,
which are essential to the comploteness of this document, are the
work of Rosalinde B, Kaufman, The careful job of editing and
proparing the material for the printer was done by Barbara D.
Finberg,
ince Mr. Lestor's pamphlet covers quite fully the Gorpora-
tion’s library activities prior to 1935, only a brief summary is
given here. The object of this publication is o bring the record
up o date for the Corporation’s first 50 yoars (cnding September
30, 1961) and to make available in one volume the facts and fige
ures on all Camnegic grants for library purposes up to that time.
Tt will be noted that the lists of grants are not organized to
conform to the order in which they are discussed in the text. This
was not an oversight. Tt was thought that analyzing the grants in
1 “Review Series,” No. 19 (New York: Carnegie Corporation of New York,
1935). Snep. 115 for & complete list of the Serics.
* Carnegie Grants Jor Libvary Buildings, 1590-1917 (New York: Carnegie
Cocporation of New York, 1943),
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somewhat different ways would give the reader a clearer percep-
tion of the Corporation’s program.

Because reports of research and experimentation supported by
Corporation grants have a significant place in the literature of
the library profession, I have included a bibliography listing many
af the books and monographs that resulted. The mumerals follaw-
ing mention of a study or report in the text and the lists of grants
indicate the publication’s place in the bibliography, beginning on
page 108, where more complete information is given.

FLORENCE ANDERSON




The Library Program

THE name of Andrew Carnegie is closely associated with libraries.
So elosely associated that his other philanthropies—even the cur-
reat activities of the soveral trusts be established —are still over-
shadowed in the public mind by his contributions to the develop-
‘ment of library service in the United States and other parts of the
English-speaking world.

Carnegie Corporation inherited its interest in librarics from its
founder. Indeed, as president of the Corporation from its estab-
lishment in 1911 until 1919, the year of his death, Mr. Carnegie
ted the Corparation’s library program. Because he linked it
in these years to his own earlier benoficences, any summary of the
Corporation’s activities in this field must pecforce include some of
his personal gifts.

Carnege library intereats divide logieally into four periods; the
years prior to 1918, when the major emphasis was on buildings; a
period of stock-taking and evaluation, plus a few special grants
during World War I; the expansion period, from 1926 to the start
of World War IT; and the postwar period, during which grants for
library purposes received a decreasing share of the Corporation’s
funds.

T. The Early Years

Andrew Carnegic's interest in libraries was a very personal one.
He was & “sclf-made man” whose formal sehooling ended when he
was only 12 years old; but that was not the end of his desire for
knowledge. In bis Autobiography he puts great stress on the oppor-
tunity he was given as a boy 0 use the private library of Colonel
James Anderson in Allegheny. "It was from my own early experi-
ence,” be wrote, *that I decided that there was no use to which
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money could be applied so productive of good to boys and girls
who have good within them and ability and ambition 1o devlop
it, as the founding of a public library in a community which is
willing to support it as a municipal institution.” Thus his first
major philanthropy was the establishment of libraries.

Starting in 1881 with a gift of a library to his birthplace,
Dunfermline, Scotland, Mr, Carncgie and later the Corporation
gave some §56 million to build 2,509 public libraries. The usual
formula was to give moncy for a building if the community would
provide a suitable site and would appropriate annually from tax
funds at least ten percent of the amount of the gift to maintain
a free public library. These agrecments were probably not legally
binding; they have never been tested. Most communities, how-
ever, justified Carnegic's faith in their gond resolutions. Many of
them have spent much more on their libraries than the donor
required, and to them the Carnegie gift may now seem only a drop
in the bucket. But it was the start and, once having enjoyed the
benefits of library service, citizens around the world have proved
their willingness to pay for it. Mr. Carnegic once remarked glee-
fully that his program had induced the peaplo over the years to
spend far more from tax funds for ibrary service than be had
spent for buildings.

During ths first 20 years of Mr. Carnegie's library giving the
design of the buildings was solely a matter of local choice. Then
in 1910 James Bertram, Mr. Carnegie’s Scottish secretary, ex-
prossed his concern about the waste in Hbrary construction. Tn
consultation with architects and librarians he drew up general
specifications 1o be adhered to and provided sample floor plans.
After that Mr. Bertram personally approved the local architeets"
plans for each building. His brusque eriticisms must have annoyed
many professional architects, and by modern standards the
buildings suggested and approved leave much to b desied. but at
least some of the non-functional aspects of late-ni
century public architecture were eliminated.

Of the 2,509 “Carnegie Libraries” (lecs than onethird of which
actually bore the Garnegic name) 1,681 were built in the United
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States. The rest were located in many other parts of the English-
speaking world: Creat Britain, Canada, Australia, New Zealand,
South Africa, the West Indics, and clsewhere, Although Mr,
Carnegie personally conld make gifts for libraries in all these far-
flung places, the Corporation, as it was constituted by its charter,
could spend its income only in the United States and the arcas
then known us “Canada and the British Colonies. Thus to con-
tinue his philanthropie interosts in the British Islos Mr. Carnegie
in 1013 established the Carnegie United Kingdom Trust. (As the
records af the 660 ibraries built in Great Britain were transforred
n, they arc not listed in this pamphlet.)

with the advent of Ameriea's entry into the First
World War, grants for buildings were discontinued, chicly be-
cause of a shortage of materials and manpower. After tho war
carlier commiitments were honored, but due to a change in policy
10 new grants wore made for public library buildings.

Concurrent with their grants for public libraries Mr. Carnegie
and the Corporation financed 108 library buildings on eollege
campuses. Most of these gifts wore made prior to 1917, but a few
were also made in the early 1920%s.

There are those who say that M. Carnegie's policy of establish-
ing autonamous library units in over 2,500 communities inhibited
for yoars the organization of a more functional type of coordinated
service. Others believe that the myriad of small libraries scattered
around the world was a necossary first step 1o creating @ genera-
tion of library users willing to vote local, state, and federal fands
for improved service.

1L Planning for the Future

Although the Corparation continued to grant some funds for

library development between 1917 and 1925 these years were

devoted primarily to appraisal and planning. Tn 1915 the trustees

of the Corporation had commissioned Alvin $, Johnson to survey

sclected Caregie librarics (58). When he found that many of

them were not providing good service because they lacked trained
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librarians, he recommended that the Corporation, before giving
more money for buildings, do something about the preparation of
librarians and the cstablishment of central services for book
selection, cataloging, and other operations.

Following his advice the trustees did not resume the building
program after the war, and in 1918 they decided to look into
libcarians’ teaining. The resulting document by Charles C.
Williamson (111) has been called one of the most influcatial
studies of professional education ever made; it is still referred to
frequently in current literature, Certainly it had a great influence
on the subsequent program of the Corporation. One of Mr.
Williamson’s major recommeadations was that librarians be
educated in a university context rather than in a training school
sponsored by a public library, He also recommended the estab-
lishment of a graduate library school for advanced training, &
national acerediting and certification system. for schools, and
liberal fellowshipe.

A complementary study made during this period focused on the
role of the library as a medium for spreading information (64).
The author was William S. Learncd, for many years a staff
member of The Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of
Teaching and at that time also a member of the Corporation's
etaff. He called for expanded services to be provided by the
American Library Association and for Jocal and regional experi-
ments and demonstrations lcading to better ways of getting books
10 the people.

lanning, a l

other specialized studies were conducted by the Corporation itself
and by the American Library Association, the Association of Ameri-
can Universitics, and other agencics with Corporation support.

IIL Years of Expansion

Utilizing the data and l‘ccnmmendnumm produced by the
studies and the C i d upon a
large-scale expansion of its libeary program. i e
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categories of grants and a number of related studies and demon-
steations, The first category, a ten-year “Library Service Pro-
gram"” 10 cost over £5 million, was approved by the trustees in
March 1926, Tts aim was to strengthen the library profession by
supporting the activities of the American Libeary Association
(AL-A) and by improving training opportunitics, The plan
ineluded endowment funds for the A.L.A, and for existing library
schools and the establishment of a new school for graduate
teaining in librarianship. In addition to carrying out this specific
program the Corporation supported a number of other central
services and training projects in the United States and the
Commonwealth.

The other major category comprised grants to colleges and
universities for the development of their libraries, chiefly through
the purchase of books.

In these efforts to enhance library service the Corporation spent
an average of about $830,000 a year from 1926 until 1941, or
income available at that time.

approximately one-sixth of it

Contral Services

Andrew Carnegie's great intercst was not in library buildings
but in the opportunities that libraries offered men and women,
young, old, and in-between, for knowledge and understanding, It
is mot surprising, therefore, that he would have included the
American Library Association in his library giving. Founded in
1876 10 improve and extend library services, the AL.A. received
its initial endowment—$100,000—from Andrew Carnegio in 1902.
Between 1924 and 1926 the Corporation provided $549,500
towards its general support, and in 1926 the trustees approved
gifts of §2 million in endowment for the Association. As indicated
on pages 8 and 90, the A.LA. has also received many other
grants for special purposes,

Between 1926 and 1941 the A.L.A. and the Corporation worked
together to identify needs in ibrary service and to develop pro-
grams to meet them. Special recoguition should be given to Carl
H. Milam, the devoted and imaginative cxecutive secretary of the
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ALLA. from 1920 to 1948 who not only built the organization but
also contributed significantly to the whole field.

The A.L.A. hielped to establish the Canadian Library Council,
small group of leading Canadian librarians, The Corporation
assisted in the effort with grants 10 send Canadian delegates to the
A.LA. mecting in Milwaukee in 1942 and 10 the conference of the
Council in Montreal the following year. In addition the Corpora-
tion made a grant of 20,000 for the initial support of the Council,
which beeame the nucleus of the Canadian Library Association
organized a few years later,

The Library of Congress, a great central resource for American
scholarship, received a mumber of Corporation grants to strengthen
its services. Two grants totaling $111,000 helped to develop its
division of fine arts. Tts music division reccived funds to establish
and equip its unique archives of American folklore. During the
1930° a consultant service was supported. These and other grants
10 the Library are listed on page 66.

Regional as well as national services were important to the
advancement of library service at this t
programs that t
other.parts of the country. The hibliographic center and union
eatalog establiched by the Pacific Northwest Library Association
in 1940 was particularly successful. Assistance was also given to a
similar center in Philadelphia and to the regional library service
and bibliographic center operated by the Denver Public Library.

Although the Corparation’s charter permits it to make grants in
those areas of the Commonvealth formerly known as the British
Doniinions and Colonies it did not extend its library interes
except for public library buildings, beyond the Western Hemi-
sphere until 1928. (Another pamphlet? reconnts the development
of the C program in the Ce but some of
the Jibrary activities will be mentioned n the appropriate cate~
gorics here,)

Several of the regional
Corporation assisted were copied or adapted in

! Corgl Cpevtion, Commmoushs Fingren b7 Eiphon I S g
No. 39, (New York: Carnegie Corporation of New
od 1963).
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Tn the 1920's the concept of fieo library service to all the people
did not exist in the southern Dominions as it did in the United
States, Great Britain, and Canada. In South Africa, New Zealand,
and Australia the Corporation in different ways helped 10 provide
the central services that would promote this concept. The focus of
leadership in South Africa was The State Library at Pretoria. In
1928, when Milton J. Ferguson and 8. A. Pirt visited South
African libraries, The State Library was hardly more than a
municipal institution. Then in 1931 M. M. Stirling, executive
secretary of the newly organized South Afeican Library Associa-
tion, was appointed its head. Following the recommendations of
the Ferguson and Pitt surveys (39, 86) and with financial support
from the Corporation, Mr. Stirling built the Library into a strong,
central institution which encouraged the development of free
library service throughout the Union, A “library organizer” was
added to the staff and a training course for librarians was started.

For various reasons the Corporation invited a group of promi-
nent citizens in South Africa o administer its library appropria-
tions, and later other grants, in South Africa. Subsequently the
Corporation’s trustees often voted appropriations for a purpose,
without specifying an institution, and payments were made to the
“South African Trustees.” Thus, the list of grants on page 100
does mot always indicate the organization that was the final
beneficiary of the funds. Specifically the §143,750 for “Library
Movement in South Africa,” which consisted of three grants of
§6,250 each from 1930 through 1932 and an endowment of
$125,000 paid in 1932, was used primarily to support the central
secvices of The State Library and the early activities of the Li-
brary Association. On the recommendation of Mr. Stirling grants
for non-European library service in the four provinces were also
made and paid through the “South African Trustees.”

Tn New Zealand, a library association was established as early
as 1910. The Corporation made a grant in 1938 to support its
activities.

Public library development in Australia moved more slowly. In
spite of the needling of a fow prominent citizens and librarians,
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communities were loath 1o give up subscription libraries and pro-
vide tax funds to support a free service, To encourage its develop-
‘ment the Corporation worked through the Australian Council for
Educational Research, which it had helped to cstablish in 1929,
In 1937 a grant of $25,000 was made to the Council for library
P Tt was used for conf ional activitics

in the several states, and the organization of the Australian
Institute of Librarians which later became the Library Associa-
tion of Australia, A subsequent grant enabled the Council to
provide grants-in-aid for library training,

Central services in the West Indies were established in 1940 with
a Corporation grant of $70,000 for a central library in Trinidad.
This later became the Eastern Caribbean Regional Library.
Training for Library Service

Even before the Williamson report, Mr. Carnegic and the
Corporation had contributed to the training of librarians. Prior to
1926 they had made grants for endowment and/or support of the
Jibrary schools of Western Reserve University (§146,000) and
Hampton Tnstitutet (§37,500), and to the schools operated by
Carnegie Institute in Pittsburgh ($40,000), the New York Public
Library' (8255,000), and the Carnegie Library of Adantat
(§100,500). Under the new program inaugurated in 1926, grants
totaling §3,359,550 for endowment and support of library schools
were made to the following institutions:

Tastitution Endowment
Atlanta Univecsity § 150,000
University of Califo 150,000
Carnegie Libeary of Atlanta =
Carnegie Lustitute of Technology o
University of Chicago 1,000,000
Columbia University 150,000
University of Denvee 50,000
Drexel Institate of Technology 5
Enmory University 100,000
Hampton Institate! s

Univensity of Kentucky .
MeGill University 03

4 Discontinnad or taken over by universi
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Institution

Usiversity of Michigan § 200,000 =

University of Noeth Carolina 100,000 § 100,000

Pratt Insticuto 50,000 T

St. Lovis Library Schoalt 2k 18450
(Public Libeary of St. Louis)

Simmons College 13,500

‘estern Reaerve University

16,000

950,000 $1.409,550

Carnegic Corporation’s major contribution in this decade was
the establishment of the first graduate library school, on the
foundation's initiative, at the University of Chicago. Grants
totaling $462,750 were made toward its support from 1925 to 1942
and §1 million was given for endowment in 1926.

In addition to the grants noted above about $300,000 has been
given to these schools for conferences, studies, publications, and
miscellancous projects.

The Corporation relied heavily on the recommendations of the
ALAs Board of Edueation for Librarianship in distributing
funds for the development of library schools, The Board, which
was itself partly supported by the Corporation, played a signifi-
cant rolo in establishing standards for libeary training and in
acerediting schools.

An account of the Corporation's program in training for li-
brarianship would not be complete without mention of the funds
provided for fellowships. Between 1928 and 1930 the Corporation
itself awarded fellowslips totaling §50,200 to 30 individuals; and
between 1931 and 1939 it made grants totaling $134,400 to the
ALA. for fellowship programs for United States, Pucrto Rican,
and Canadian students. In addition, during the two-year interim
between the elosing of the library school at Hampton Tnstitute
and the opening of the school at Atlanta University, the Corpora-
tion provided $20,000 for the training of Negro librarians in
northern universitics,

Tn New Zealand and South Africa the Corporation had a con-
siderable influence on the status of college librarians. Before grant-
ing colleges in these countries funds for the purchase of books,

4 Discontinued or takea over by ualversities.
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Carnegie insisted that the individual in charge of the library be
adequately trained and given appropriste academic rank. To this
end it offered a fellowship for study at a library school in the
United States o ablo person solected by the
college. All four university colleges in New Zealand and three of
the five constituent colleges of the University of South Africa
accepted the offer. (The librarian at Natal had alrcady carned a
library degree, 5o he was given a study tour instead.) In addition
 number of public and academic librarians in the Commonwealth
spent several months visiting libraries in the United States under
the Corporation’s regular travel grant program.

Portions of the Carnegie grants to the South African Library
Association and the Australion Council for Educational Research
were used for correspondence courses, short courses, and other
means of local training for librarians. Under the West African
library dovelopment program approved in 1940 a mumber of
African librarians were sent to England for professional training.

Development of Academic Libraries
The Corporation's college and university library program, like
its publie library program, advanced from the provision of build-
ings 1o the impravement of the librarics” services. Between 1921
and 1935 endowment grants wore made to eleven institutions for
goneral library purposes or for the salaries of the librarians; and
from thue o thno grsa otalig $051500 were mado 0 21
eolle ities for library spment. The major pro-
gram for the development of academic libraries, however, was
begun in 1928 when the Corporation formed the Advisory Group.
on College Libraries. Under the chairmanship of William W.
Bishop, then librarian at the University of Michigan, this group of
distinguished librarians gatherod specific data on the libraries of
some 200 liberal arts colloges, devised standards for such librarics,
and finally selected 83 of them to recrive grants from the Corpora-
tion totaling slightly more than §1 million for the purchase of
books for undergraduate reading. A list of the colleges recciving
these grants hegins on page 69.
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Animportant by-product of this program was the production of
a new body of litcrature: The College Library, by William M.
Randall (89); The College Library Building, by James T. Cerould
(45); and the cxceedingly uscful List of Books for Collsge Libraries,
prepared by Charles B. Shaw (94, 95).

“The Advisory Group was also asked by the Carncgio Endow-
ment for Intornational Peace to sclect American colleges in the
Near East to receive a total of $50,000, given to the Endowment
by the Corporation, for library development in that arca.

To survey the libraries of Canadian colleges and universities,
another advisory committee was appointed in 1931, headed by
George H. Locke of the Toronto Public Library. As a result of the
committee’s recommendations 34 institutions reccived §214,800
for the purchase of books

Turning its attention to the junior colleges in the United States,
the Corporation constituted a third advisory group 1o determine
which of these institutions should be given grants. Following the
now-established survey and seloetion procedures, the group ss-
lected 92 junior colleges to reeeive $300,000, Tt also produced
cet of standards for these libraries and A List of Books for Junior
College Libraries, peepared by Foster E. Molwhardt (80).

Other grants for academic library development during this
period, also administered by advisory committees, included:

Teachers Colleges 31 fastitations $198,000
Negra Col 100,000
Land-Grant Colleges 90,000
Techmologiesl Calleges 55,800

An important adjunct 10 all of these book-purchase grants was
the establishmeat of a central purchasing office at the University
of Michigan to place aggregate orders for books. The choice of
books was entirely the responsibility of the individual colleges, but
substantial quantity discounts and other advantages were ob-
tained by the cooperative service paid for by the Corporation. Tn
ita twelve years of operation (1931-1943) it purchased books
worth §1,805,000 for 172 eolleges.

Allin all, between 1930 and 1943 the Corporation appropriated
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approximately §2,400,000 for this series of grants, related adminis-
trativo expenses, and attendant studics. The very large state
universitics and leading private institutions were not included in
this program bocause i1s purpose was to upgrade the libraries of
the average good colleges by focusing the attention of adminis-
trators on the inadequacies of the libraries in their institutions,
setting standards for improvement, and providing the where-
withal to get started. Only & brief summary of the program has
been given here but a complete description appears in pumphlets
by William W. Bishop (18) and Thomas R. Barcus (15), published
by the Corporation some years ago.

A small but separate program for dental schiool libraries should
also be mentioned. Tn 1928 the Corporation appointed a com-
‘mittee under the chairmanship of Dr. William J. Gies of Columbia
University (who had previously made a study of dental education
for The Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching)
to recommend a group of dental schools 1o receive grant for the
purchase of hooks. Between 1929 and 1932 allocations totaling
$47,000 were made to twenty institutions in the Ul
two in Canada. Concurrently the University of Michigan was
given $31,000 to prepare a list of basic books and journals for
dental schools and to carry on a five-year demonstration of the
role of library service in such institutions,

Another important grant made during this period was one of
$250,000 to Vanderhilt University (supplementing s majoe grant
from the General Education Board) for the establishment of a
joint library with George Peubody College and Scarritt College.
"This pooling of facilities in Nashville, Tennessee, was the fore-
runner of other forms of inter-university library cooperation that
were inaugurated clsewhers many years later.

In addition to the library development grants made to academic
institutions in the United States and Canada grants for the pur-
chiase of books were given to six universitics and university col-
leges in South Africa, to the four university colleges in New
Zealand, and, somewhat later, to the University of Adelaide and
the University of Western Australia,
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Ench of the six universities in Australia was also given a small
grant for a special adult edueation library,

Suudies and Confercrces
Fact-finding, evaluation, and rescarch have been basie to the
of the Corporation’s activitics in the library field and
to the development of the profession of ibrarianship. Not only did

the Corporation commission scveral studies before embarking on
its major library progeam in 1926; it also from time to time
brought together lcading librarians and interested laymen to
evaluate the current status of library service and to recommend
future action. In connection with its academic library grants it
commissioned Harvie Branscomb, now chaneellor of Vanderhilt
University but then brarian at Duke University, to prepare &
significant study, Teaching with Books (20). He particularly
emphasized the trend in college teaching away from texthooks and
towards greater use of the full resources of the library. In The
American Public Library Building (108), the collaboration of
library administrator Joseph L. Wheeler and architect Alfred M.
Githens produced the indispensable handbook for the planning
and design of public libraries. On the initiation of the Corporation
Mr, Wheeler made another important study in 1945. His pam-
phlet, Progress and Problems in Education for Librarianship (109),
ia still in demand, especially by planners in countrics now dovelop-
ing library service.

Libcary studies preceded major grants in the Commonwealth
«countries as well as in the United States, and in several instances
the publication of the studies probably had s much effect as the
grants by influcncing prominent citizens and government offcials
to work for improved library service.

A grant to the American Library Association in I‘MU financed a
study of Canadian libraries
Ferguson, head of the Brooklyn Publie Libeary, and $. A. Pitt of
Glasgow, Scotland, in 1928 studied the library situation in South
Africa (39, 86). Ralph Munn, je Library i
Pittsburgh, teamed with E. R. Pitt of Melbourne to study
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Austealian libraries (81) and with John Barr of Auckland to make
a similar study of the libraries of New Zealand (83). Ernest A.
Savage of Edinburgh was asked t0 study the libraries in the West
Indics and nearby Caribbean arcas (92). Following his report
several small grants were made to angment the baok eollections
of the struggling island libraries.

Tn the late 1930 the Corporation initiated correspondence with
the Colonial Office (London) looking towards a libeary progeam in
the West African colonies. The Office conducted a survey atits own
expense in 1939, which was followed in 1941 by a study financed by
the Corporation, In 1940 the trustees appropriated a fund for West
Altican library development 1o be allocated in accordance with
the study recommendations. Tho war intervened, however, and
a new plan for spending the grant was approved in 1940.

Tn addition to the studics that it initiated the Corporation
supported muny studies and conferences organised by other
agencics, as indicated in the lists of grants, Some of the resulting
publications are listed in the bibliography beginning on page 108.

Experiments and Demonstrations

One of the most satisfying functions of a foundation is to sup-
port experiments that lead to new and better ways of things
that our society considers important. The spread of public library
seevice 1o rural areas is certainly a social need, and the Corpora-
tion provided funds for soveral demonstrations of methods and
techniques for bringing books to children and adults who live far
from the major population eenters. The first of these, started in
1925, was carried on in Louisiana with a grant to the League of
Library Commissions, & forernner of the present American
Association of State Libraries, Essae Martha Culver, recruited
from the California State Library, was appointed sccretary of the
Louisiana Library Commission and director of tho project. A
central lending library was started, several parishes (counties)
weee encouraged 1o establish libraries with initial bookstock pro-
vided by the Commission, and summer training courses for
librarians were given for the first time by the universities in the
state. Shortly after the demonstration began, the State Legis-
116]




lature voted appropriations to supplement the funds of the Com-
mission during the demonstration period and later continued its
support of state-wide library service.

In 1932 and 1933 the Corporation made grants totaling
$200,000 to the Rosenwald Fund, which did so much for cducation
in the South, to enable it to continue a demonsteation of library
service in that region. A modest grant was also made to the
Vermont Commission on Rural Life for an experiment in taking
hooks ta the people.

Grants totaling §30,000 were made between 1928 and 1932 w0
librarics in the Virgin Tslands for books, extension services, and
the training of local library staff.

These experiments, and many others supported by state and
county libraries, culminated in the Library Serviees Act passed by
Congress in 1956. Under the Act millions of dollars have been
appropriated by the federal and state governments for rural
libeary service.

Two of the most interesting early demonstrations were carried
on in Canada, one on Prince Edward Island, the other in the
Fraser River Valley of British Columbia. In 1940 grants were also
‘made for a travelling library in Newfoundland and for the devel-
opment of regional library service in Nova Scotia, but these plans
were interrupted by the war and did not really get under way
until a number of years later.

Tn New Zealand, too, a travelling library, combined with a
liome science project, was sponsered jointly by Canterbury and
Otago Universitics with grants totaling $102,500 from the Gor-
poration hotween 1020 and 1934.

During the late 1930’ small geants were made to libraries and
other organizations for the development and promotion of the
use of microfilm for seholarly purposes.

Administrative Note
At the height of its library activities the Corporation had a
very emall staff. The president, Frederick P. Keppel, relied
heavily on expert consultants and advisory committees. The
secretary of the Corporation, Rebert M. Lestor, was chiefly
(17}




responsible for the administration of the libeary progeam (and
many others) but from 1931 to 1941 prominent librarians were
selected as advisers, each for a period of approximately two years.
Their names are listed bere, for their recommendations on all

library proposals were extremely influential if not decisive:

Milton J. Ferguson, Brooklyn Public Library, December 1,
1931 1o July 1, 1934;

Chasles E. Rush, Yale University, July 1, 1934 to October 1,
1936;

Franklin F. Hopper, New York Public Library, October 1, 1936
to Doccmber 31, 1930;

Miriam Tompkins, Columbia University, January 1, 1939 to
September 30, 1941,

Among the many other librarians whose advico proved par-
ticularly helpful 1o the Corporation, special mention should be
made of Harry M. Lydenberg, director of the New York Public
Library, and William W. Bishop, librarian of the University of
Michigan.

V. After World War 11

During World War IT the normal activities of the Corporation
were natarally in abeyance. A few grants were made for war-
service progeams of the American Library Association and other
agencics. Following the war the trustees and officces, aficr cacful
study, embarked on & new Corporation grant progeam in which
library interests were nio longer to be a major emphasis, Neverthe-
less, although the concentration of grants was in other arcas,
library grants were not excluded and a number of important
projects were supported.

Central Services

Grants in support of individual public and academic libraries
(except in Africa) were not resumed. Grants were continued for
conteal services, studies, and experimental projects, however,
although they constituted a far smaller proportion of the Cor-
poration’s total program.

As early as 1940, the Corporation bad made a small grant to the
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University of Chicage to explore the possibility of a central
facility for the academic and special librarics of the

Eight years later a feasible plan was proposed. Twelve universic
ties, plus the John Crerar Library in Chicago, agesed to build and
‘maintain a joint library to store books and periodicals that were
eeldom used but the availability of which was essential to research
activities, The Corporation made available $750,000 toward the
building and equipment of the Midwest Inter-Library Center,
located in Chicago. The governing board now comprises repre-
sentatives of 21 member institutions; these and other associate
members provide the annual maintenance costs. The Library
serves many other institutions as well and undertakes a number
of special projects paid for by the National Science Foundation
and other agencies,

Carrying on its assistance to the Library of Congress the Cor-
poration made a grant of §200,000 in 1959 to enable the Library
‘to establish an Africana unit in support of the growing interest in
Africa on the part of scholars in the United States.

The American Library Association continues to be the main
central service agency for the profession and as such receives
assistance from the Corporation for special projects, Among the
grants have been three for the development of standards for
publie, schoal, and state libraries. After the war public libraries
began to develop collections of cducational films and the Corpora-
vion helped the A.LA. provide an advisory service to assist
librarians in the evaluation, acquisition, and circulation of this
new material.

The expanding international interests of the country were
reflected in scholars’ needs for a myriad of foreign publications.
Obviously it was impractical for every research library to attempt
to procure and store printed material from all over the world. In
1930, therefore, a group of librarians worked out what hecame
known as The Farmington Plan (named after the place of their
first meeting), whereby participating librarics agreed to specializo
in the publications of specific countries. By inter-library loans
they would provide a cooperative service to seholars thronghout
the country. A modest grant from the Corporation to the Associs-
(9]}




tion of Roscarch Librarios defrayed the administrative costs of the
project during its experimental stage.

A large seetion of the American people, if it thinks about
foundations at all, considers them mysterions and inacecssiblo
operations. Partly o dispel this impression by making information
about foundations more casily available, the Corporation in 1955
established The Foundation Library Center. It received an initial
grant of $500,000 later supplemented by a $250,000 grant for the
ten-year period ending in 1969. Other large foundations have also
made substantial contributions 1o its support. The Center main-
tains a central library in New York and has cooperated with other

blish regional depositories of basic i
at the Midwest Inter-Library Center, the Atlanta Pablic Library,
the Kansas City Public Library, the Cleveland Foundation, the
Hogg Foundation at the University of Texas, and the University
of California at Berkeley and Los Angeles.

A fow grants were also made for central services in the Com-
‘monwealth, The Library Association of Australia received §35,000
10 support its activities, and assistance was given to the Cana-
dian Library Association for an index of Canadian periodicals and
documentary films and the New Zealand Library Association for
& union eatalog of Library collections in that country.

Training for Library Serviee
During this period training grants, instead of providing general
support for library schools, as in the past, were made for special
‘purposes. In view of the shortage of qualified Negro librarians, a
fivesycar grant for scholarships was made to Atlanta University,
which had the only accredited library school in the South that
Negrocs could attend. At Rutgers University an experimental
training program in library administration was st up for li-
brarians who already held positions of responsibility. A grant to
the University of Californin was used to dovelop courses to train
librarians 1o deal with the new audio-visual materials that were
rapidly being added to both public and academic library collee-
tions. A project 1o prepare teaching materials for library schools
was carricd out at the University of Chicago,
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Another grant, which might with equal logie be mentioned in
the “Studies” category, was made to Wostern Reserve Universi
There Jesse H. Shera, dean of the School of Library Science, is
formulating a statement of the nature of librarianship and the
kinds of knowledge a librarian should have to fulfill his profes-
sional functions, He is also developing a new curriculum for the
Sehool 10 provids training consistent with his thearics.

A major grant in the Commonvealth helped to establish the
first library training conrso in West Africa at University College,
Thadan, Nigeria. The Corporation also provided funds to train
four Chinese librarians from Hong Kong in the Usited States.

Academic Libraries

Since World War TT the Corporation has rarcly supported the
general development of seademie libraries. Grants 1o Princeton
University and Gammon Theological Seminary (now part of the
Interdenominational Theological Center) were exceptions, as was
a grant to Stanford University to prepare for research use the
extraordinar